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windows. The fourteenth bay from the west contains a single-leaf replacement door. On the 2™ and 3%
floors, the two westernmost and one easternmost bays have no openings but contain a double-height,
inset brick panel with brick detailing. The third bay from the west contains a 3-light replacement
window to the west and a small replacement window to the east. The fourth through thirteenth bays
from the west contain 6-light replacement aluminum windows. The fourteenth bay from the west
contains a 3-light replacement window. On the 4" floor, the two westernmost and one easternmost bays
have no openings but contain an inset brick panel with brick detailing. The third bay from the west
contains a 3-light replacement window to the west and a small replacement window to the east. The
fourth through thirteenth bays from the west contain 6-light replacement aluminum windows. The
fourteenth bay from the west contains a 3-light replacement window. All of the window openings on
the 2™ through 4" floors have terra cotta sills and brick heads.

The west elevation, facing the former Boyd Street, is fifteen bays wide (Photograph 5). The fourth bay
from the south and the two northernmost bays project slightly from the remainder of the elevation. The
entire elevation has a single terra cotta stringcourse between the 1% and 2™ floors and a double terra
cotta stringcourse between the 3 and 4™ floors. On the 1% floor, all of the cladding material has been
painted. The first through third, sixth, seventh, eleventh, twelfth, fourteenth and fifteenth bays from the
south contain paired 5-light replacement aluminum windows. The fourth bay from the south contains a
double-leaf metal replacement door with a painted limestone surround. The fifth bay from the south
contains a 3-light replacement window. The eighth through tenth bays from the south contain a large, 3-
sided bay window with 3-light replacement windows in the openings. The thirteenth bay from the south
contains a single-leaf replacement door with a painted limestone surround, which is located up several
steps. On the 2™ through 4" floors, the three southernmost bays contain paired 5-light replacement
aluminum windows. The 3™ floor windows have terra cotta sills and all of the windows have brick
heads. The fourth bay from the south contains a double-height 6-light replacement aluminum window
on the 2™ and 3" floors with a terra cotta sill and arched brick surround. In the center of the arch is a
terra cotta medallion. The 4™ floor contains two arched 3-light replacement aluminum windows with
arched brick heads. Above and between the windows, resting on the terra cotta cornice, are terra cotta
medallions. Above the bay is the west elevation of the gable-roof penthouse, which also has two arched
brick window openings. The fifth through thirteenth bays from the south also contain paired 5-light
replacement aluminum windows. The 2™ and 3™ floor windows are flanked by double-height brick
pilasters with Doric terra cotta capitals and terra cotta bases. Between the floors are brick spandrel
panels with centered terra cotta medallions. The 4 floor windows are flanked by single-height brick
pilasters with lonic terra cotta capitals and terra cotta bases. The two northernmost bays have no
openings on the upper floors but the fagade on the 2™ and 3™ floors has an inset brick panel with brick
pilasters and brick detailing. The 4™ floor has a similar, but smaller, inset brick panel. In the center is a

terra cotta panel with a terra cotta medallion with the letter “M.”
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metal doors and metal trim. All of the openings to the ancillary rooms, such as storage and bathrooms,
contain wood doors and trim. At the north end of the east corridor on the 1* floor, there is a slightly
higher level of finish, as it was the primary entrance to the building. There is painted wood paneling, a

coved plaster ceiling and painted plaster moldings.

The primary stairways are U-return stairways with painted plaster walls, painted concrete treads and
risers and contemporary painted metal railings. The stairway in the southwest corner provides access
between the 1% floor and the roof. The remaining stairways provide access between the 1% and 4"
floors. The secondary stairways are located at the north ends of the east and west elevations. The
straight-run stairways provide access between the basement and 1* floor. There is no elevator.

In the center of the floor plate is a large courtyard area (Photographs 14 and 25). In c. 1980, a flat roof
with three contemporary barrel skylights was installed between the 2™ and 3™ floors. The north wall of
the courtyard dates to 1924 and is clad in red brick with a painted stone base. The 1¥' and 2" floors
contain four double-height, arched, multi-light replacement aluminum windows with arched brick
heads. There are also two replacement windows at the east end. The 3 and 4" floors contain four
double-height, arched, multi-light replacement aluminum windows with arched brick heads and terra
cotta sills. There are also at the west end and one small replacement window at the east end. The east
wall of the courtyard dates to 1915. It is clad in red brick in the outer sections and painted stucco in the
center. The intersection of the brick and the stucco is detailed with brick quoins. All floors contain
bands of replacement windows at the north end. The south wall of the courtyard dates to 1915. It is
three bays wide with delineating painted concrete girders and painted stucco infill. The 1% floor is open
with only supporting painted concrete columns bisecting the opening. The 2™ through 4" floors contain
irregularly spaced replacement windows on all floors. The west wall of the courtyard dates to 1924. The
1** and 2" floors are clad in red brick with a painted stone base. The 3 and 4™ floors are clad in
alternating sections of red brick and painted stucco. At the north end, the intersection of the brick and
the stucco is detailed with brick quoins, which flank bands of replacement windows on each floor. At

the south end, there is one small replacement window on the 4" floor.

Federal Historic Preservation Tax Incentives

Beginning in 2013, the process for applying for Federal Historic Preservation Tax Incentives for the
building was begun. The complete scope of work was both reviewed and approved by the New Jersey
State Historic Preservation Office and the National Park Service. The historic school will be converted
into use as a charter school. Because of the parallel functions, no major exterior or interior renovations
are required and the historic character of the building will be wholly retained. Work on the building
began 2014 and is scheduled for completion in 2015. In progress photographs of the work, taken on
November 21, 2014, are enclosed (Photographs #27 - 41).
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